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COMMISSIONER:  Is Dr Gobodo-Madikizela here? … Would you like to come forward.  
MR ARENDSE:  (inaudible – microphone off). 
COMMISSIONER:  Yes, Mr Arendse. I can’t quite hear you. 
MR ARENDSE:  Can we just have a five minute comfort break? 
COMMISSIONER:  Yes, certainly.  We could take a five minute adjournment, certainly. We’ll 
adjourn just for five minutes.  Sorry, Dr Gobodo-Madikizela – you can get used to the chair!  
We’ll take a short adjournment as Mr Arendse’s requested. 
COMMISSION ADJOURNS (at 15:42) 
ON RESUMPTION: (at 15:48) 
COMMISSIONER:  Well, welcome once again, Dr Gobodo- Madikizela.  The acoustics here 
are quite weak, as you can tell. 
PROF GOBODO-MADIKIZELA:  Oh! 
COMMISSIONER:  We can’t hear one another because the sound in the hall dissipates.  
There are earphones which you can use. 
PROF GOBODO-MADIKIZELA:  Thank you. 
COMMISSIONER:  The proceedings of the commission are public, as you can see, and your 
testimony and evidence and your name may be made public in the media and in the report to 
the Commission.  Do you have any objection to that? 
PROF GOBODO-MADIKIZELA:  No. 
COMMISSIONER:  Okay. You need to be put under oath, and you also need to determine the 
language in which you are going to testify. What language are you going to testify in? 
PROF GOBODO-MADIKIZELA:  In English. 
COMMISSIONER:  In English.  
PUMLA GOBODO-MADIKIZELA (Sworn states) 
COMMISSIONER:  Thank you very much. Ms Myosi? 
MS MYOSI:  Thank you, Madam Chair. 
EXAMINATION BY MS MYOSI: 
 Professor Madikizela Gobodo (sic), you submitted a CV to the Commission, didn’t you? 
PROF GOBODO-MADIKIZELA:  Yes.  
MS MYOSI:  Do you confirm that the contents of the CV are correct? 
PROF GOBODO-MADIKIZELA:   Yes.  
MS MYOSI:   Alright. You’ve prepared a presentation for the Commission. You may proceed to 
give your testimony. 
PROF GOBODO-MADIKIZELA:   Thank you, Commissioners. 
 I’d like to start by just stating the information that was presented to me that helped me 



prepare this report.  The first was a document called Bundu Courts, a report on the violence 
here in Khayelitsha between April 2011 and June 2012. And the document describes several 
incidents of violence in the areas around Khayelitsha from vigilante violence to gang violence.  
That was the first document I had that I used to prepare my report. 
 Secondly, I conducted some interviews in Khayelitsha with some people, mostly at the 
Social Justice and Coalition centre here in Khayelitsha, as well as some telephone calls, 
telephone interviews.  And then I read a selection of transcripts from the Commission.  
 I’d like to just give an overview of the way that I have framed my report this afternoon, 
and to emphasise that while I understand the processes on policing in Khayelitsha, I was 
specifically asked to provide a report on vigilantism.  
 And so my focus will be, firstly, on the psychological and institutional issues surrounding 
vigilantism, and I will then move into vigilante violence, the psychological analysis of vigilante 
violence, and this analysis is mostly based on notions of what is known in psychology as crowd 
violence, which basically means just psychological interpretations of what crowd violence is 
about. And I will discuss a couple of these theories just very briefly.  

And the last perspective on this vigilantism will be drawn from issues around trauma, 
humiliation and violence – in other words, the link between trauma and a sense of humiliation, 
and outcomes of violence.  

This short quote is from one of the interviews, and I present it here just to give a sense, 
a feeling of what happens during a vigilante violence. And for me it was striking that in the 
course of three days when I conducted interviews with people in Khayelitsha, there were about 
four incidents of vigilante violence in which people were killed. In all of these incidents people 
were killed. 

And this statement is from one of the people I interviewed, and earlier that morning 
there was an incident of vigilantism.  So I want to read this to the Commissioners because it 
really gives a sense, and for me it speaks to the issue of just how unspeakable these whole 
incidences, and the fact that there’s something else that’s going on that I think we need to look 
into, we need to understand because of the way that these incidents occur. It’s not simply – it 
is crime, they’re incidents of crime, but there’s something that’s going on that I think we need 
to think about. 

So here is this person tells me during the interviews: 
“We heard a woman screaming, Ikbanyani, ikbanyani, nali sela [?], my bag, my 
bag! Here is a thief. In no time – I mean, in no time – everybody was coming out, 
slamming doors behind them. I mean, it was like a split second. And they were all 
dressed in their clothes. Rocks on the streets were thrown at him. In no time the 
man was gone. In no time they had finished him.” 

There was this sense that a person is killed within a matter of seconds, or minutes, and 
if one can picture that image of someone calling out, my bag, a thief! And then a group of 
people descending around that person and in no time that person is dead, and to think about 
what that means for the community, not only the older people in the community, but especially 
the younger members in the community who have to witness this regularly.  And this is why I 
brought this – I presented this statement. 
MS MYOSI:  You speak in your report, and I think this statement captures it, about the sort-of 
spontaneous non-planned nature of the vigilante incidents that have occurred in Khayelitsha 
and that you were looking at. 
 The evidence, some of the evidence, that was led here, Nomamerika Simelane (sic), 



and I think her uncle Mayedwa Simelane, gave evidence much earlier on in the Commission of 
an incident where Nomamerika was robbed with her boyfriend.  
 She called her uncle, they got some members of the community to look for the young 
men who had done it, they found them, then they drove around with the young men to their 
homes, because what they were really interested in is recovering the money as well as the 
cellphones. 
 And in the course of that, a second group of community members descended upon the 
young men and identified them as young men who had earlier killed somebody, and, you 
know, in no time the second group of community members then descended upon the young 
men and killed them. 
 What is your comment on that, and the dynamics and the nature of that incident? 
PROF GOBODO-MADIKIZELA:  I think it is possible that these incidents do not unfold in the 
same way. I’m sure some of them, there will be people who know something is happening 
somewhere, and start planning for it.  
 We can exclude that possibility, and in fact in most of incidents of crowd violence and 
certainly when I conducted my research on necklace murders in the 1980s, that was the 
pattern – the pattern was that people seemed to mull things over. There wasn’t this kind of 
suddenness that we seem to witness here in Khayelitsha. There was a kind-of an unfolding of 
a process, where someone would be caught and identified as an mpipi or an informer, and 
then there would be, you know, there would be hours of this person being interrogated and 
people deciding, you know, someone should fetch, you know, a tyre or petrol. So there was a 
bit of planning then. 
 But this is different. 
 So I think it is possible that there are incidents where even in this context, even with this 
kind of story that I have just read, that there are different ways in which people are led to their 
death by a group of community people. 
 But it seems to me, just from speaking to people and reading some of the testimonies, it 
seems to me that on the whole there is this sense of immediacy, someone shouts some, you 
know, these words, and immediately people gather, and immediately whatever people get, you 
know, bricks or slabs or concrete slabs, the person is killed.  That’s what seems to happen. 
 And so the picture that we see here, then, suggests to me, at least, having done 
research on necklace murders, the picture seems to resemble what happens, you know, in 
situations of necklace murders. And there are elements of what we have seen in Khayelitsha 
that are very similar to what has been studied throughout the world by scholars looking at 
crowd violence, the first issue of causes, that there is a trigger event.  All of these incidents 
begin with a trigger event, something happens, and then that mobilise the crowd into action. 
 And so it seems consistent, the incidents are here are consistent to the picture of just 
crowd – what crowd violence looks like in general in other places in the world. 
 So I now want to just briefly talk about other theories of crowd violence that have been 
used throughout this scholarship, and some of these have been – actually, all of them – have 
been landmark theories but they are now a bit outdated because there’ve been other theories.  

And still they have some currency because they do seem to explain what happens in 
crowds when people lose, in a way, lose a sense of control. They just go, there’s no sense of 
stopping to reflect on what am I going to do, what are the consequences of my actions.  
People act. This is what we see in so many of these acts, that people go in, you know, they are 
called, they respond to the call, and they act. There isn’t a moment of stopping to think about 



what is about to happen. 
 So one of these theoretical understandings suggest that when people participate in 
these violent crowds, they commit these terrible acts of violence because they lose their sense 
of individuality. In other words, they are de-individuated.   

So you hear all of these other, you know, all these notions of, you know, people feel a 
sense of being anonymous. It’s a feeling of anonymity within the crowd. There’s a sense of 
suggestibility. In other words, this framework seems to suggest that people are not thinking 
when they are in the crowd.  

This is really the conclusion here, that this kind of perspective is based on the notion 
that people who commit these acts of violence in the context of crowds are not thinking. They 
are acting, but they are not reflecting as individuals.  

Then this other conceptual framework is in direct opposition to the previous one, and 
suggests that people who are committing these acts of atrocities, they are – they have a 
purpose.  They do it because there’s a purpose, they’re part of a group, they’re sending a 
message. And, as we know, in so many other crimes which are not necessarily violent, when 
people gather in crowds sometimes protest crowds, for instance, they are gathering because 
they want to send a message. It is their voice, their way of speaking. 

So social identity theories suggest that people identify – choose to identify with a group. 
It is not a question of losing any of their sense, perception, self-perception. Rather it is an 
identification, it’s taking on the identity of the group and defining themselves according to the 
wishes and the beliefs and the decisions of the groups.  

And so here what is significant with this social identity theory is that the context is 
important. People’s behaviour is defined by their group, and people act because of their – you 
know, what their group defines. 

And so both of these thoughts, of these schools of thought, have some relevance in 
what we have seen in Khayelitsha.  If you think about how people engage in violence, one 
can’t avoid wondering, are they – are they exercising their minds?  Are people, when they act 
in this way, do they have their full senses with the?   

So one then might think that, well, maybe they are de-individuated, but the problem with 
this theory is that it seriously suggests that there is pathology, that groups of people in 
communities, when they act in this way, they are – there’s a degree of madness. And that is 
the problem, to define an action by community as an act of madness. 

And so this is the challenge with this orientation.  
The second one, the social identity theory, there’s a lot of undue emphasis on the power 

of the context. In other words, this issue of self categorisation, or defining the self as part of the 
group as if the group is everything, the group and the context is everything that defines what 
the person does. 

And so what I’m interested in is this idea of, the question of who are these people 
engaging in these acts of violence – what do they bring to the group.  In other words, what 
stories, what narratives, what histories, what cultural backgrounds and cultural histories do 
they bring to the group. What experiences have they been exposed to in the past that 
contributes to what is going on. 
 And the theory that I found very useful in understanding, at least in adding another layer 
of understanding to what is going on, is new research that is based on humiliation studies. 
There’s a big growing field of work that looks at the link between sense of humiliation and acts 
of violence of an extreme kind. 



 And so I want to begin here by explaining how the sense of humiliation is relevant here 
and how it is linked to trauma.  
 We’ve heard a lot about trauma today, and how trauma affects individuals. Post-
traumatic stress disorder in particular had been analysed by so many of my colleagues who 
came before the Commission.  

One of the important things to remember about trauma is that it is disruptive. Trauma is 
disruptive not only in terms of what happens externally, the behaviour, the external behaviour 
of its victims. Trauma is disruptive perhaps even more importantly at the internal level, and that 
is part of the trauma, that it changes people.  

One of the people that I interviewed for my report, he put it this way:  he said, when I 
came to Khayelitsha I came from a family where I was brought up by my grandmother. My 
grandmother taught me moral values.  She never beat me. She taught me all the right things to 
do. When I came to Khayelitsha, and witnessing all that has been going on, it changed me. It 
transformed me. 

And I think this is very important to underscore about the experiences of trauma, that it’s 
not only about the symptoms that we see and we can tick, these are the symptoms of trauma. 
Trauma actually disrupts the internal composition of even the mind. There are studies that 
have been done looking at how trauma changes people profoundly at the level of the 
constitution of their minds. 

We can imagine, then, how it changes relationships within the family themselves. It 
plays a very major role not only in terms of the person’s own traumatised existence, but in 
terms of the person’s relationships.  It’s important to understand that. 

Trauma is a – because trauma of the kinds that we have witnessed here and the 
traumas that happens in people’s homes, these traumas are relational experiences;  they 
happen in the context of relationships. And therefore what is also disrupted are the ways in 
which people relate to others. That is where the disruption happens as well. 

Now, because trauma is – remains unfinished business until it is dealt with, we speak of 
trauma as something that is unfinished. I use the term “the unfinished business of trauma” 
because it is an experience that is not integrated fully in the person’s unconscious.   

And I think this is where the problem of trauma arises, because the experience happens 
to a person but it is never integrated as part of the repertoire of that person’s conscious 
experience. And so it remains in fragments, in fragmented form in the person’s experience, in 
memory, and so we understand the consequence of this fragmentation of trauma as resulting 
in what we call the de-association of these experiences. 

And what that means is that the traumatic experience itself, along with all the emotions 
associated with it, is not integrated as a whole. It is in fact, the de-association is the 
compartmentalisation of the emotions associated with the trauma, the memory of the trauma, 
and all other significant, you know, events surrounding this experience of trauma. 

And so the problem then of the remembering of memory, is actually not so much the 
remembering of in the way that you understand memory to be.  It’s a – it happens – it forces 
these memories of these fragments – these pieces of traumatic experiences are experienced 
in fragments and not in whole, so that they remain something that is not completely understood 
at a very deep level. It’s not completely integrated 

So it is a splitting off of all the experience and the emotions so that the person, for 
instance, might be aware when they encounter someone, for example, who had raped them, 
and the experience was never fully integrated, they might feel – they encounter someone who 



looks like the person who raped them – they might feel an overwhelming emotion, an anxiety 
might build up within them.  And they may not identify the reason for the anxiety immediately. 

And so the way that trauma then remains in this person’s experience is – and the way 
that the person manages this experience – is in terms of defences. Trauma exists in terms of 
defences because a person constantly has to ward off all these emotions that are difficult, and 
they overwhelm the person at very unexpected moments. And so constantly the person 
operates with defences. 

Now, here are two very important aspects to say about this:  it is very important to think 
about the notion of working through trauma.  What that means is that people are able to 
confront what happened to them, acknowledge what happened to them and even, to a certain 
extent, even re-experience it, because when they confront it they have to re-experience it. That 
way it begins the process of their integrating it fully – understanding it and integrating it fully.  

Working through is that process of helping people to work through, to understand and to 
confront it. 

The opposite, and which is the danger, it is a tragic consequence of trauma, the 
opposite is an acting out of the trauma. And acting out means that all these defences I referred 
to earlier where the person is protecting themselves via the mechanisms of these defences, is 
a way of avoiding actually dealing with the pain of the trauma. The consequence, because 
these effects continue to exist, the effect is in the acting out of trauma. 

Now, these scholars who link humiliation to violence, suggest that the experience of 
trauma, of so many of these traumas, is humiliating. When we are raped, it is extremely 
humiliating to our sense of identity. When our loved ones are raped or our loved ones are 
traumatised and violated in any way, it is a humiliating experience.  

When the experience is shared as a group, by a group, by a community, the identity of 
the group is defined by this traumatic experience in a qualitative way, because the experience 
is qualitative, and so the group’s identity is in part formed by this shared experience of trauma 
which becomes part of the group’s kind-of like a touchstone of their experience of reality. 

And so the acting out of trauma then, when it comes to community and communities 
enter into groups, it becomes much more tragic because the acting out is enacted in the 
context of a group, of a larger group of people, and has its consequences within the 
communities. 

These scholars who have done research on humiliation studies, they speak about the 
importance of recognising this acting out at the community level, and the shame that is shared 
and felt by a community. 

Now, to make the picture even gloomier, we have come to understand that these 
experiences of trauma do not end up with the generation that experienced them directly. So 
often some of these experiences are passed on to the next generation through a complex 
process of the transmission of these traumatic experiences. 

I’ll give a very brief example:  children, for example, in the area where I did my research 
on necklace murders, children, 8 year olds who never witnessed the traumatic experience of 
necklace murders, when I went back to the township of Mlungisi near Queenstown, I 
encountered a shocking moment when I was doing my research in the 1990s, where a group 
of 7, 8 year olds were playing the game of the necklace.   One of the girls, they were in the 
streets playing, and I stood actually and watched, almost like watching a movie. It was so 
surreal. These kids, one says, (Xhosa) – let’s play the necklace game. And then she goes 
around – you know, she goes on to organise the group of other girls into, you know, this is how 



you organise yourself.  Let’s start – you are going to be the victim, I’m going to bring the tyre, 
and she is the victim, and the others have to bring the tyre.  And they begin to enact the 
necklace game. These are 7 year olds, 12 years after the incident actually happened. 

Now, this illustration, you may ask, well, maybe the children heard about it. Of course 
they probably heard about it.  But the effect is that it is a story, it s a narrative that they carry 
within themselves as part of their identity.  This is what happened in my community. And so the 
story is passed on to the next generation in that way. 

And so trans-generational transmission of trauma has been studied in so many area on 
holocaust survivors, survivors of other regions in Australia – after years or traumas people find 
that these stories are enacted.  
COMMISSIONER:  I mean, on the act – I mean, one of the things is it may not necessarily be 
harmful. I remember learning that the children’s game Ring a Roses arose out of the plague, 
and all fall down at the end, and it’s presumably, it’s almost a form of collective memory. A 
shocking collective memory, but – that actually almost becomes worked through generation 
after generation, dispute the horrors that went before. So it eventually, it may well in fact be 
detached from any actual recollection of what the incidents were that underlay it. 
PROF GOBODO-MADIKIZELA:  Absolutely. And the importance about it is that it is an attempt 
to deal with this trauma, even for children.  It is something that is still a story that parents tell. 
And how do they deal with it?  They put up a, you know, a skit to act it out. For them, you 
know, this is a play.   

And we’ve heard, of course, reports of children actually burning other children within 
their homes. There were stories in the Eastern Cape in the early 1990s where children – they 
think it’s a game, and so this is what it means – this is what this trans-generational 
transmission means. 
 And so, just back to the issue of humiliation, because I think it’s important for us to keep 
that in mind, that these experiences are often humiliating experiences, shaming experiences.  

One of the first people who did a formal study of these effects of humiliation is James 
Gilligan. James Gilligan is a forensic psychiatrist in the psychotherapies in the Massachusetts 
area, and he spent more than 20 years dealing with criminals of extreme forms of violence. 
And one of the things he came up with, the main finding that he came up with, and he wrote a 
book called Violence, and the sub-title of that is Reflections on our Deadliest Epidemic, and he 
found that at the heart of acts of violence by this man who had committed murders, rape and a 
series of crimes, the central trope that defined their lives was experiences of trauma that was 
shaming and humiliating, that this is a feeling of humiliation, that they are acting out – the 
actual violence are an acting out of their trauma that they experienced in the past. 

And we find this in so many stories of domestic violence. If you ask men, some of the 
men who abuse their wives in the home, you will find in more than 60% of the cases that they 
have been abused. 

Women, like wives, who are involved in the sex trade, more than 65% of these women 
were found in fact to have experienced sexual violation. And so they’re acting out.  

It sounds like a contradiction, but this is the way that they were defined by perpetrators 
and for them it’s the way that they carry their story and their way of trying to deal with it in their 
lives.  

And now we find huge collaborative research projects organised around the project of 
human dignity and humiliation studies. And this is now really the 21st century research on 
crowd violence and on violence within communities, particularly in the aftermath of mass 



conflicts and mass trauma. This is now the new trend that is coming up and led by a woman 
professor called Evelyn Lindna (?). And this has become a really huge respectable research 
work that is done in many parts of the globe. 

So there’re other scholars that I just want to mention on trans-generational transmission 
of trauma.  Vamik Volkan has written books again on this issue of how people who had 
experiences of trauma in the past as groups continued to engage and Vamik Volkan looks at 
Egypt, he looks at Israel and the Palestine situation, even within the US.  

He studies Kosovo in the former Yugoslavia and concludes that the history of violence 
experienced by groups and communities has – is a tragic experience, its tragic consequences 
are in the violence and the conflicts that we have seen around the globe. 

So why the circles of repetition, why the trans-generational transmission of trauma and 
the cycles of repetition of both the trauma and of the – of the violence?  It is an attempt at 
mastery. I mentioned earlier that the trauma remains unresolved until it is worked through. And 
so the acting out is a way of trying to master the traumatic experience and to integrate the 
material into one’s experience. 

And, of course, it is a destructive way, and it doesn’t resolve the issues that it attempts 
to resolve, and then, you know, hence the person falls into these repeated cycles of violence, 
because it never resolves the issue that it intends to resolve in the first instance.  

And part of it is – we speak about victims stepping into the shoes of perpetrators. It 
empowers victims, it gives them the sense of power and control. They live in a world where 
they don’t feel a sense of control, their world is shattered and disrupted, and this act of 
violence, and acting out against another person, it gives them a feeling of being in control of 
the violence because they are doing it against another. In other words, almost like they are 
cleansing themselves of the humiliation and the sense of weakness by hurting another person.  

And so, when this is understood as something that is related to the collective violence 
that you have witnessed, one might think of questions around what might be some of the 
traumatic histories that people in the communities that were dealing with have gone through.  

I have not canvassed these questions, but it is a question that I think requires to be 
confronted. 
MS MYOSI:  You say in your report at page 6: 

“The brutality of the Khayelitsha vigilante attacks is difficult to understand, yet few 
can deny that the grievances shared by the people of Khayelitsha regarding 
crime and its lack of control by the police contributes significantly to the complex 
set of factors that lead people to engage in angry and sometimes violent 
demonstrations.” 

 The way in which people experience not being safe and crime in Khayelitsha, could that 
in itself be a trauma that they then act out and is triggered by someone screaming, my bag, my 
bag? 
PROF GOBODO-MADIKIZELA:   Absolutely. There is another layer, though, that I think is 
important to understand. When people feel a sense of helplessness about the crime that is 
happening around them, it gives them a feeling of not being recognised as fellow citizens in a – 
particularly living in a Province where very clearly people wake up at 5, at 4 – I mean these 
people’s bags are stolen, they wake up and they go into the city and they can see the 
difference. And so when people experience this other world as a world that is safe and secure 
with another resources, and when they cry out to try and get support for what – their own 
experiences, it makes it extremely difficult for them. 



 One of the people in my interviews that I had here in Khayelitsha, he put it this way, he 
says we work so hard, we struggle to find jobs, we work so hard to find these jobs, and when 
we find them, we try to create a life of dignity around us by buying certain things to make 
ourselves proud that we are working. And then someone comes and steals this. And then he 
said, it is like stealing our dignity. 
 And so there is a deep, a profound sense of trauma and a sense of helplessness – I 
think trauma limits it, I think it’s a profound sense of abuse, of daily abuse. Which is, of course, 
traumatic. 
 So, yes, absolutely. These are the lack of safety, the lack of feeling of safety and lack of 
security, constantly being on guard, you know, not only in terms of your bag being snatched, 
but your body being stolen through rape or through stabbings and those kinds of things, and 
when there is no response, this is traumatic. 
 So now I want to talk about the structural issues, because I think it’s important to look at 
the problem of vigilantism, as I stated in my report, not as something that is caused by one – 
that can be looked at from one perspective;  that is a complex issue.  We are dealing with 
people’s narratives, life narratives, they are bringing so much of themselves, the problems of 
trauma does not only – the problem of trauma does not only address one issue.  It is a 
multiple, multi-layered problem. 
 And so when people talk about not feeling safe, not feeling secure in Khayelitsha, that 
adds another layer. And these are structural realities, because the informal settlements as we 
know them, these are areas where there are few resources for survival.  There is a level of 
unemployment, a huge level of unemployment.  That in itself is traumatic.  
 People go – they are men and they are women, they are supposed to be responsible for 
their home, and yet this notion of manhood – I mean, think for example about the young men 
who go for initiation. They come back, they feel that they are now men, they call themselves 
men. What does manhood mean?  Manhood mean you take responsibility, you have a job, you 
have settled pride around yourself, but they come back, they are nothing. They wake up every 
morning, after having been called men, facing this yawning void of emptiness. There is nothing 
in their lives. That is humiliating. That is a sense in which – the sense in which these 
experiences contribute to their feeling of being under siege – almost like under siege. 
 Now, just on the issue of unemployment, I want to take us to this slide that you see 
there. This is based on the documents that I received that listed all the crimes the Bundu 
Courts report. And when I looked at this document, there were a total of 78 or 79 crimes, and 
more than 50% of them were committed during the day, and just over 30% committed at night. 
 Now, this suggests to me that these incidents that happened during the day are 
committed by people who are unemployed, both the ones who are caught as criminals and the 
ones who commit the crimes are at home – in other words, they are unemployed.  
 The other – then I want to go back to that slide on structural realities that reinforce a 
sense of humiliation, and therefore a feeling of helplessness and powerlessness, the size of 
their homes and the homes that are built around the informal settlements. This creates a sense 
of anonymity when a people don’t feel a sense of recognition of their humanity. They feel de-
humanised.  

And it seems to me that this is one of the central tragedies facing people in Khayelitsha, 
this sense of – the feeling of de-humanisation, that the environment is de-humanising, and one 
doesn’t feel a sense of deep presence of one’s self, of who one is. And this contributes to this 
feeling of humiliation on a day to day basis.  



There is no visible police, and it fosters a culture of impunity.  We have to face it that the 
commission – when people commit the vigilante actions, it’s almost as if nothing is going to 
happen;  we’ll do this and then we’ll disburse and then nothing happens. 

So there is this deep sense of culture of impunity.  People, of course, witness corruption 
among police themselves, and so it fosters again this sense of just an absence, a total 
absence, of responsibility towards one’s community and absence of responsibility towards 
one’s behaviour. 

And so violence in this kind of context emerges as a cultural norm. In other words, it 
becomes normalised. Violence becomes just part of the culture.  One doesn’t blink – you 
know, people commit violence, people – young children pass bodies of dead people in the 
streets on their way to school.  It’s normal. And then they go to school. There is more crime 
within their own classrooms. And so there is this normalisation of violence wherever the 
children, wherever the people go.   

And the final issue that I want to point out is that of social enemy, which is described as 
just the breakdown of moral codes in a society and within communities, and it certainly, it 
seems to me, that this is an important contributory factor, if you think about the problems of 
just control and the problems of whether people do take responsibility for their actions. There is 
this erosion of morality, it seems to me, 

And this is not limited, unfortunately, to the Khayelitsha community. We see it’s all 
around in so many parts of our country. And so that, too, is a message that if something – if 
there is an overwhelming sense of wrong, of justice – erosion of morality at so many levels, it’s 
difficult for people to appreciate the importance of ethical values. 

Just this last slide shows – again, based on the Bundu Courts’ reports – that 83% of the 
crimes reported in that document were committed by groups of people, whether it’s groups of 
community members or groups of scholars.  

There’re very few of groups of scholars. You can see there only about 1% gang-related 
incidents from this report, the Bundu Courts’ reports 12%. The majority of the cases are 
committed by community members, and that is troubling. It’s worrying that these incidents are 
happening to the degree that they are committed by communities. 
MS MYOSI:    And by way of recommendation for SAPS in responding to this issue of 
vigilantism, whether it’s caused – I think you make the point in your report that it’s over-
simplistic to say it is just a lack of trust in police. Is it a straight line between the two;  there’s a 
myriad of other problems. And I think there is an appreciation of that.  
 But as for SAPS themselves, they too have a role to play in responding, preventing, 
suppressing it.  What recommendations would you have? 
PROF GOBODO-MADIKIZELA:   I have to say that it’s very complicated. Unfortunately, I have 
to repeat that line.  
 Having said that, though, there is a need for greater visibility of the police.  I take into 
consideration the testimony that was led just before me, and what was observed by the – by 
my colleague just before me, that this is overwhelming for the police as well.  And that is true. 
 So I think it is important to look at SAPS and the responsibility of the police and their 
presence, but to also find a way of addressing the limitations that they face in a range of, you 
know, a range of ways. I mean, the fact that the informal settlements, and I’ve read in the 
documents too, the informal settlements, there is a density problem within the informal 
settlements.  
 And so we might say, well, they ought to be familiar with this environment, despite the 



fact that it is so dense. So we can then also say, well, maybe, you know, there is a limited 
number of police force;  it needs to be increased.  But will that really change things? Will that 
change matters? 
 So it seems to me that the problem has to be addressed at various levels. I mean, it has 
to be addressed, really, at the – at the community level, just in terms of what – what does life 
mean for people in Khayelitsha.  You know, what are their – what’s the issue with the schools, 
what are the schools doing. What are the churches doing. How do we make these 
communities where people will feel this is a safe environment, or at least it is not a dangerous 
environment – how can this happen? 
 And there’re several layers, because then you need to deal with the damage that has 
happened to people first, and I think that there are programmes that can be implemented, 
programmes of not just prevention of crime or prevention of violence, but programmes of 
building human capacity, building young people with ethical values. 
 I saw how this went when – I do some work in Rwanda, and I was in Rwanda recently, 
and I’ve been there a few times. This is a country 20 years ago there were bodies, blood, 
throughout the streets because of the genocide. And this idea of what do you do, you know, to 
change communities so that they become new communities? There is a fresh sense of pride in 
the community.  And I think Rwanda has done it well. How have they done it?  It’s a process of 
helping people to feel, from the basic thing of – very basic and simple thing of keep your 
community clean. I mean, Rwanda is the cleanest country in Africa.  Keep your – and people 
there, including leaders, they go one Saturday a weekend to go and work and clean their 
communities. 
 So I think those kinds of initiatives, not necessarily this one, but churches, communities, 
can come together and say, you know, we are tired now of all these strategies from outside;  
how do we create pride around our communities? 
 But that requires resources. It requires financial support to community-based 
organisations that have a stake within the community.  

And so one of the points I make is that maybe we need to think about using some of the 
young people who are coming out of these communities and training them to become police so 
they have a sense, they know their communities, and there’s a sense of connection to their 
communities, rather than bring someone from Johannesburg, you know? And to bring people 
who have a stake and who have a sense of they know what it is like, and so they’re training, 
focusing on just building an ethical community, not just among the police, but among young 
people, old people, programmes that bring young people together and engage them in thinking 
about what does it mean to kill a person, you know?  What does it mean that the person is on 
your street. 
 Those things, I think, are very important, and we have not paid enough attention to 
them, I don’t think. 
MS MYOSI:  So, in other words, just finally, you’re saying that, yes, SAPS have to do what 
they have to do, but part of the solution also lies in healing communities and restoring the 
dignity of communities to themselves. 
PROF GOBODO-MADIKIZELA:  I think that’s a very good way of putting it, of healing 
communities. That’s a very, very important point. That’s exactly – I would support that, that of 
healing the rupture and the disruption in several ways that have occurred, that have occurred 
to these communities historically and presently.  
MS MYOSI:   I don’t have any further questions. 



NO FURTHER QUESTIONS BY MS MYOSI 
COMMISSIONER:  Thank you, Advocate Myosi.  Ms Bawa? 
CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS BAWA: 
 Good afternoon. Following up on that last exchange between you and Advocate Myosi, 
what kind of a recommendation can the Commission make to contribute towards that healing 
of the community? 
PROF GOBODO-MADIKIZELA:  I would – I would suggest that we think about a multi-faceted 
approach, I mean, that, to use that word, that this requires a multi-faceted approach, beginning 
with healing the communities. And when you think about what it does to heal communities, you 
provide services, you provide proper education, you provide – you mobilise churches to 
engage in this process of engaging in dialogue with the community about what can be done to 
improve the conditions within the community. That’s the first thing.  That’s the community level. 
 And that’s not all, but that’s just one, you know, idea of how to engage at that level. 
 Then with the police.  It’s very important that police understand that their role is of 
service to the community.  Where the breakdown was, I have not been able to understand it 
just reading through the documents. The breakdown – I understand how police operated 
during Apartheid. It’s difficult to see what happens within the police today, not just in 
Khayelitsha;  in other parts of the country. 
 So a recommendation would be a properly trained police who are taught, are trained to 
understand their role of serving the community, prevention of crime and being present.  And 
it’s easy to say that, but the process of actually getting people to feel a sense of responsibility 
towards their community, the community that they serve, I think it goes beyond the simple 
manuals of, you know, this is what you do when you respond to a crime and so on. There’s 
another level of community training. 
 This is why among my recommendations I suggest that the idea of community policing 
should really be incorporated into the training of police as a measure of helping police to 
connect with the community.  
 I grew up in the township in the 1960s.  A policeman was the first person you run to if 
there was something wrong.  A policeman in your streets. That, of course, broke down in the 
later years in Apartheid, and now it seems to have broken down completely. And that needs to 
be revived. That idea that a policeman is the safest person you can run to within the 
community. 
 So the training requires careful thinking about – this issue of ethics, I cannot say this, I 
don’t think I can say this, you know, I cannot say this enough, that at the heart of these 
problems, even within the police, is that we don’t pay attention to teaching people how to be 
conscious about this significant – the importance, significance, of an ethical core within the 
way that they function.  
 How you do this is to design a programme that will give people opportunities to reflect 
on what does it mean to be an ethical person.  It’s lacking when you send out, you know, a 
notice for a position – you never see anything about, you know, what other examples of 
situations where you have exercised, you know, an ethical response.  We hardly ever ask 
about this. 
 And I think within the police and as one of the recommendations, I mean, it sounds like 
a lofty idea, but I really think it is at the heart of the matter, how do people learn the notion of a 
principled, a principled practice of policing,  a principled practice of, you know, being a, you 
know, someone working as a Councillor at the municipality – how do you take away this 



culture of corruption?   
And I think that if – the recommendations by the Commission could include something 

about building ethical capacity, building a moral awareness so that there is a – there is a 
seriousness about our wanting to see a leadership at all levels of our society where people 
have a moral consciousness. 
 And I think that that’s what I would like to propose is done. 
MS BAWA:  You mention doing a number of interviews, I think you said over a period of three 
days, in Khayelitsha. Can you give some idea of how the people you interviewed were chosen, 
how many people you interviewed, what was the approach in that regard. 
PROF GOBODO-MADIKIZELA:   There were – I was assisted by the Social Justice Coalition 
to interview people in fact at the centre. And then I had a follow-up interview over – one, 
telephonic interviews. So the people were really selected for me by the Social Justice 
Coalition, and all I asked, I said I wanted a person, people, who have witnessed vigilante 
killings, That was really the only criteria, that I just wanted a person who had witnessed a 
vigilante, who has been – who lives in Khayelitsha and has witnessed these vigilante killings 
MS BAWA:  And how many interviews did you conduct? 
PROF GOBODO-MADIKIZELA:   I interviewed four people. 
MS BAWA:  And you think that was a sufficient sample? 
PROF GOBODO-MADIKIZELA:  Oh, no, no, I’m not – this is not a research study for me.  This 
is – this for me is, I wanted a sense of how people think about vigilante violence. In fact, 
originally, the brief was that I’m not going to interview people at all, but I felt that I needed to 
interview, at least to hear voices of people in Khayelitsha speak about the experience 
themselves. And this is in addition to the testimonies that had been given to the Commission. 
 So the issue of sufficient sample, for me it wasn’t important, because I’m not doing a 
study necessarily. 
MS BAWA:   We heard evidence from one of the Station Commanders who used to be based 
at Harare. And you would have seen from the Bundu document you gave that most of the 
vigilante events emanated from the Harare policing precinct.  
 And his evidence was that there was lots of incidents, and it had been ongoing over a 
number of years and when asked about his strategy, he said it was twofold;  they got Golf 5 
vehicles which allowed them to get to the incidents a lot faster, and that there was an 
educating of the community that they didn’t take the law into their own hands.   

And that was what the policing strategy was in dealing with, let’s call it vigilante 
(intervention). 
PROF GOBODO-MADIKIZELA:   Educating people, you said? 
MS BAWA:   Educating people about not taking the law into their own hands, and improving on 
the police response to the events when it took place. 
 Now, the one thing which I noticed, you deal with the act of vigilantism from the 
perspective of a crowd response. But we’ve also seen evidence before the Commission of not 
simply a spontaneous event sparked off by a trigger of criminality, but a planned event. And I 
want to read to you three extracts which came out of the Station Crime Combating Forum 
meetings in 2012. 
 And it says: 

“There was a Bundu Court at Site C where two suspects were badly assaulted, 
but they were saved by the police. I heard that the mother of the other suspect 
will come and open the case. There is a planned meeting for today at 6h00, but 



the venue is unknown.  Criminal Intelligence will find out.” 
 And then, a further extract says: 

“Murders are a problem, Bundu Courts are a problem. Still the Sekweze imbizas 
are held. MPA are helping in charging the people involved. 
Late on Sunday the information indicated that there were people that were about 
to be executed but they were saved by the police. Bundu Courts need to be 
monitored at Harare. Five murders in Section 6. The suspects are unknown. At 
Site C there was a Bundu Court. It happened during the day and the deceased 
was from the Harare area.” 

 And then one statement which is attributed to the Colonel of the Lingelethu West Police 
Station: 
  “We need to do something about burglary cases.” 
 That’s the gist of it. Then he says:   

“We don’t want to end up having Bundu Courts again.” 
 And a further one done by the Intelligence Officer, that says: 

“The community is still looking for the boy who was involved. We can expect 
vigilante attacks.” 

 It seems that in almost all the incidences, whether it’s a spontaneous crowd or a 
planned event, the trigger appears to be an act of criminality. Do you agree? 
PROF GOBODO-MADIKIZELA:  Sorry – can you repeat the last question. It seems what? 
MS BAWA:   Whether it’s a spontaneous crowd responding or whether it’s a planned event that 
we are going to go after somebody through a Bundu Court process, the trigger is always an act 
of criminality. 
PROF GOBODO-MADIKIZELA:   Yes.  
MS BAWA:   Or a perceived one of the perpetrator. 
PROF GOBODO-MADIKIZELA:   Oh, yes, absolutely. And the important thing is that once the 
crowd gets into action, that is a crowd action, and sometimes it may be planned, but there is – 
there is a trigger, there is a criminal who’s been identified. 
MS BAWA:   So your paper would be equally applicable – or would your paper be equally 
applicable to a planned event as opposed to a spontaneous response? 
PROF GOBODO-MADIKIZELA:   Let me make this clearer. Crowd violence happens because 
a group of people gather to commit a necklace murder, or beating up of the person. What 
makes a crowd violence, crowd violence, is because people gather to commit an act of 
violence, and that’s crowd violence. It’s collective violence. Whether – then the details of how 
does it unfold may differ.  

What we’re seeing is that, with these vigilante killings, there often is an almost like a 
spontaneous response, but what you’ve just shared now is that there is sometimes a plan as 
we’re going to have a Bundu Court and so on, but the important point about my perspective, 
the perspective I’m presenting to the Commission, is that these kinds of violence are collective 
violence, acts of collective violence.  Crowds are involved. The theoretical perspective apply to 
these crowd incidents. 
MS BAWA:  And do I understand your testimony to be that, if you want to curb this kind of 
response, you need to have a more holistic approach to the problem? 
PROF GOBODO-MADIKIZELA:  I absolutely believe so. Community, police level, and just a 
matrix of ways of addressing the problem at its root cause, or at least what we think is the root 
cause. 



MS BAWA:   Thank you. I’ve got no other questions 
NO FURTHER QUESTIONS BY MS BAWA 
COMMISSIONER:  Thank you, Ms Bawa. Mr Arendse? 
CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR ARENDSE:  
 I don’t – Prof, you’ve touched on a few things arising from questions posed by Ms Myosi 
and by Ms Bawa, so I don’t want to delve too much into it. The one you’ve – has been picked 
up by Ms Myosi herself is that you didn’t at all deal with the issue of the trauma of police 
officers themselves that they undergo or suffer. But you mentioned that it’s also an 
overwhelming experience for police officers when acts of vigilantism take place. You’ve 
touched on that.  But it’s not part of your report. 
PROF GOBODO-MADIKIZELA:  No, it’s not. I touch on it, but I don’t deal with the trauma of 
the police. But I recognise that there are challenges that the police clearly face, given the 
circumstances of the areas, and those challenges need to be addressed. But my main focus of 
the report is really on how do we understand this vigilante violence. 
MR ARENDSE:  Mm hmm. And then the other issue was something that was also dealt with by 
Dr Holtmann, is that, you know, at some point a community member is at one and the same 
time a victim, or could be a victim and a perpetrator. And You don’t deal with that complexity 
either. 
PROF GOBODO-MADIKIZELA:  Well … 
MR ARENDSE:  Where you would say as a potential perpetrator who joins this crowd 
becomes de-individuated that pshew! There but for the grace of God go I, it could be me. I 
could have been playing with someone and grabbed a handbag and ran down the street, and 
the next thing this is happening to me and it was completely an act of innocence. 
PROF GOBODO-MADIKIZELA:  Well, if you think about the notion of repetition of acts of 
violence, and trans-generational transmission of trauma, it is a cycle that makes victims 
transform into perpetrators themselves. I’m not sure whether that’s the point that you’re asking.  
 So it is a complex web, you know, of acting out by people who were victims who’ve 
become perpetrators. And that’s the cycle that is important to be broken, and so who is 
responsible for this – it’s important, of course, to underscore that the police ought to be 
present, and then we have to ask the question, why is it that they are not present?   
 And what I’m – my contribution in this work is that well, we should look into – especially 
after Dr Holtmann’s testimony – we ought to interrogate this question of what is it that makes 
them inactive.  You know, is it enough to say they are not there, they are not doing their work?  
What other questions should we be asking, you know?  There are other points about, you 
know, is there a sufficient number of police, you know, have they been traumatised. These 
questions will help us, in a balanced way, will help us understand what’s going on with them, 
you know – and this is not to excuse them, it does not excuse them. But rather to find solutions 
to why we find members of the community in Khayelitsha complaining and the fact that there’s 
such overwhelming complaints suggests that here is a problem in the police. 

And so I think we need to be asking the question, what exactly is going on. And I’m sure 
– I mean, I have not been attending the (intervention). 
MR ARENDSE:  It’s – the question raises really complex answers, isn’t it? Because I want to 
ask you, I mean, you started off with an example. I asked myself, but how was it – how could it 
physically be possible for the police to have been there.  Someone stole a handbag. The next 
thing there was a shout, and there was a reaction.  
PROF GOBODO-MADIKIZELA:  Okay … 



MR ARENDSE:  Did anyone even give thought of saying, let’s ‘phone the police, this is a 
matter that requires the attention of the police?  On your own description, the example that you 
use, it just happens spontaneously. 
PROF GOBODO-MADIKIZELA:  What I would say (intervention). 
MR ARENDSE:  So – so there’s a – no, I understand.  I’m trying to understand that there’s a 
deeper issue. It seems as if the community, and I don’t know whether we should generalise, 
because there are an overwhelming number of complaints that do go to the police. There are 
far more serious acts of criminality that take place that’s being reported. But we want to move 
to a situation where, when someone has stolen a handbag, it should be a natural response to 
pick up the ‘phone or have a cellphone, call the police.  
PROF GOBODO-MADIKIZELA:  From the testimonies that I’ve read, people – and the 
interviews that I’ve conducted – people inform me, and they’ve said at this Commission that 
criminals commit these acts, sometimes even more serious acts than snatching a bag, and 
they’re never caught.  Police are not visible. 
 So then we have to think about why are the police not visible. For instance, to answer 
your question about this incident of someone being murdered after snatching a bag, if police 
are visible, people know that they cannot – and people have said here in this room that these 
groups spread out, people disburse as soon as police come.  Someone calls, maybe after the 
fact, but people disburse. 
 Now, if police are visible and people are conscious that there is a police somewhere not 
far from here, then that in itself, the visibility of police, is a deterrent of these actions, and at 
least people know that they can go to the police, if not the one who’s around, visible, they can 
at least trust that when they do go to the police there will be action. 
 What I have read here is that people don’t get the responses that treats their cases as 
important. If they do, the people go out and they find them in the streets, walking the streets 
with them again. 
 So there is a problem, clearly. But by saying this, the problem is complex, I’m not 
suggesting that the police therefore should be excused that then, you know, it’s complex, 
therefore nothing can be done.  Their role is to be present, and so the fact that they are not 
present, for me as an outsider, I wonder what’s going on, you know, and why are they not 
visible.  Why are these – even the places that repeatedly experience crime, why isn’t there a 
strategy that says well, we know now we’ve had so many problems here;  maybe we should 
have a caravan of policemen. Something like that. 
 I mean, there’s an area that one of the people I interviewed took me to and she said, 
here, this is the field where people are burnt. There are tyres already that are waiting because 
people deal with crime in that way. 
 So these are areas at the stations, you know, train stations, where something could be 
deployed in the meantime. I mean, it is – there are some steps that can be taken in the 
immediate term that I think could help.  You know, police positioning themselves in certain 
areas that are hot spots or hot crime spots, so that people can see that something is moving, 
something is shifting. 
MR ARENDSE:  Prof, that is happening, and has happened, and I don’t want to debate – I 
don’t think time permits us to debate now, because what has also been quite remarkable and I 
don’t know how we explain it, is that even while this Commission has been sitting, there’s been 
vigilante killings.  And one would have thought, and I was really hoping, I think like all of us, 
that at least while this Commission is sitting and giving people hope that there’s going to be an 



outcome which at least begins to address the many complex problems there are, it was still 
happening. 
 How do you explain that? 
PROF GOBODO-MADIKIZELA:  You know, one (intervention). 
MR ARENDSE:  I don’t want you to explain that. I (intervention). 
PROF GOBODO-MADIKIZELA:  I know one can have explanations for everything, but I do 
want to say to you, Advocate Arendse, that from an outsider, again, looking from the outside, 
when I see the total absence of Commissioners, of Ministers of police, of those people that are 
connected to this trouble that’s going on here, when I see their total absence, or when I read 
the kinds of things that they say and there are statements that are not supportive of this 
process, you know, it sends a message to the police themselves that, you know, this is not 
serious, don’t make an effort.  I’m not saying it does, but, you know, when you read about this 
process is such an important process for the community of Khayelitsha and that – at least I 
have not seen or heard or even been informed about any senior person at the level – or even 
the Minister or the Commissioner – I have not seen that.  And the fact that they are not visible, 
I really think that is also a disservice to the process. That’s one of the things, perhaps, that 
should happen, because if they were here, maybe we would understand that this is taken 
seriously at the highest level.   
 And maybe in the course of the Commission’s work – I mean, I remember actually even 
with the Truth Commission’s work, the crime rates went down because there was a movement, 
there was a visible – people were coming and they were presented in communities and there 
was less crime reported in those days. 
 But here you are absolutely right.  How can it be that this process, which is so 
important, it’s supposed to be a process that is shaking up and giving people hope, and yet 
these things are still happening. 
MR ARENDSE:  Prof, I’m afraid – perhaps you were in Rwanda at the time or away, but there 
has been commitment to the process, this process, at the highest level.  The Provincial 
Commissioner – in fact, it brings me to the last point that I wanted to just raise with you for a 
comment – the healing process, the Provincial Commissioner sat there. He was invited by 
Zackie Calmat of Social Justice Coalition – he apologised to victims of crime in this area … 
PROF GOBODO-MADIKIZELA:  Oh. 
MR ARENDSE:  If that was a result of the failure of the police.  He committed to a process 
where I think there was going to be some memorial service at some point, I don’t know, at the 
conclusion of this enquiry. So there’s been the highest levels of commitment to the process, 
ma’am.  
 And I think a last point was just, I think it was Graham (sic) Newham who testified 
yesterday about the code of conduct to extend also to the police, and that’s the last part on the 
– which you touched on, the ethical problem. 
 And then just running the police, just lastly, I think Barbara Holtmann also testified you 
don’t want – I think it’s, with respect, an old fashioned way of looking at the police, because I 
think it was Brigadier Dladla who testified here that they are everything to everybody. But I 
think they must forget about that notion. They can’t be, otherwise they’re just going to become 
bad social workers. I think they just need to redefine their role, but that can only be done, as 
she testified, in a cooperative, collaborative way. And I think you agree with that. 
PROF GOBODO-MADIKIZELA:  Mm. Absolutely, yes. 
MR ARENDSE:  Thank you.  



NO FURTHER QUESTIONS BY MR ARENDSE 
COMMISSIONER:  Thank you, Mr Arendse.  Anything in re-examination, Advocate Myosi? 
MS MYOSI:  Madam Chair, may I ask just one question;  it’s not necessarily arising from re-
examination, but it’s not a complicated …  
COMMISSIONER:  Yes.  
RE-EXAMINATION BY MS MYOSI: 
 You spoke, when you were giving your detailed explanation about trauma linked to 
humiliation, there’s been lots of testimony around how people experience the police when they 
attended at the community service centre. When they go to report a crime, they complain that 
they are dismissed, there’s no empathy and so on. 
 My question to you is, would that, when it happens on the scale that the people of this 
community claim it happens, would that be a humiliation in itself? 
PROF GOBODO-MADIKIZELA:  Absolutely. Absolutely. It’s a lack of recognition.  That’s – of 
al the experiences that bestow a sense of respect to – a sense of dignity to a person, 
recognition is very central. And so when that sort-of what you’ve just described happens 
repeatedly, people feel less important, less than de-humanised, and so it contributes a great 
deal to that feeling, yes. 
MS MYOSI:  Thank you. I don’t have any more questions, Madam Chair. 
NO FURTHER QUESTIONS BY MS MYOSI 
COMMISSIONER:  Vusi? 
MR PIKOLI:  Just one explanation that I’m seeking. Obviously there’s no problem with a 
citizen’s arrest, you know?   But I just need an explanation on this appetite to mete out instant 
punishment on suspects, and not hand them over to the police once, you know, they are 
apprehended by the crowd. What causes that?  Because if it’s a question of lack of the visibility 
by the police, now you have an opportunity to apprehend the suspect, take the suspect to the 
police station. 
PROF GOBODO-MADIKIZELA:  Mm. 
MR PIKOLI:  Why are people not doing that? 
PROF GOBODO-MADIKIZELA:  There are no single causal factors. It’s not a question of the 
absence of the police causes people to behave in that way. A number of factors play out when 
people are in the context of a group. There is – there are forces and factors that drive them to 
commit the acts, and one of which is people are – they feel a sense of losing their lives, or their 
dignity, because when they are facing thieves or criminals and so on on a daily basis, it’s 
almost as if you’re taking something that is important to me. You are diminishing my sense of 
worth.  
 And so there’s a revenge element to it, almost like a deep vengeful, maybe for other 
things that are not necessarily related to the thieving, because people bring a number of 
stories.  But when you bring a group together, it’s an explosive situation.  

So how do you then encourage people to report the crime?  One of the things that is 
important is for people to just bring people to these kinds of – this is a very important step, but 
as the Advocate was saying, they’re still, even now, they’re committing these vigilante crimes. 

So you can’t say this is – you must have the police present. You must have the police 
present, but there’s also another way of responding to the community in a way that make them 
feel that somebody cares, you know.  We feel a sense of dignity, a sense of being 
acknowledged. Our pain is being acknowledged. 

So it’s never – it’s not going to be one thing.  It’s going to be several layers of 



addressing the problem, but most importantly making people feel that the livelihood of their 
community and the fact that this crime is causing so much pain and trauma for their own 
children and for their own lives, it’s for them to change the situation. But people need, I think, 
to be given the space and the power, and empowered to say something – to be able to say 
something about that themselves, so that it’s not just me responding to your question. It’s also 
listening to the people and – listening and paying attention to what it is that they want to 
happen.  Well, they say that they want the police to be visible, otherwise they will take the law 
in their hands. 

Remember that some of these people – it’s really criminal elements. These people who 
have nothing to do, some of them. So it feeds into the frustrations of the community when 
there are all sorts of kind of elements that come in. Not all of these people are coming, can be 
described in the way that I describe it here. It has complex sets of factors but at the end of the 
day the presence of the police, the presence of the police, because if they are not present, 
people are not going to say I’ve caught the criminal, because the police are not going to do 
anything about it – at least this is what I believe – you’re not going to do anything about it, so 
let me do something about it. 

And it gives people a sense of power and control because they can’t control the 
situation. 

So I guess that my answer is, again, you know, just the complexity of this thing and how 
we need to address it at the level of what purpose does the violence serve for those people. 
Are they speaking, saying something, through the violence? If so, can you find out what it is. 
COMMISSIONER:  Thank you very much indeed, Professor, for your report and for your 
testimony this afternoon. We’re very grateful that you’ve been able to be here. You may now 
stand down. 
PROF GOBODO-MADIKIZELA:  Thank you. 
 


